IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)

)

CHADWICK WILLACY, Defendant/Appellant, vs. STATE OF FLORIDA, Plaintiff/Appellee.

TINED AUR 1.2 1996

CASE NUMBER 86,994

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0786438 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 1991, following a jury trial in the Circuit Court for Brevard County, the Honorable Theron Yawn, Jr. presiding, Chadwick Willacy was found guilty of first-degree murder, arson, robbery and burglary with assault. After a jury recommendation 9-3 for death, Willacy was sentenced to death on the first-degree murder conviction and thirty years to each underlying felony, consecutive. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed the convictions, reversed the death sentence and remanded for a new penalty hearing because of a faulty jury selection process. <u>Willacy v. State</u>, 640 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 1994) This is the direct appeal of a death sentence imposed after the subsequent penalty phase.

In imposing this death sentence, the trial court found

five statutory aggravating factors: the murder was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of a robbery/arson/burglary; the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest; the murder was committed for pecuniary gain; the murder was cold, calculated and premeditated murder without pretense of moral or legal justification, (CCP); and an especially heinous, atrocious or cruel murder (HAC). (R615, 618) The defense presented for consideration thirty-seven mitigating circumstances; the trial court rejected six, and gave the remaining thirty-one little weight. (R619, 624)

### Motions and Objections Denied by the Trial Court.

The following pre-trial and jury selection motions made by the defense were denied by the trial court: Motion to Disqualify and Motion to Recuse Judge; (R5,13) Motion in Limine to Exclude Burning of the Victim's Body; (R233) Motion in Limine to Suppress and Exclude Evidence of Aggravating Factors; (R246) Motion to Vacate the Death Penalty; (R263) Motion for Determination of Admissibility of Physical Evidence; (R270) Motion to Continue to determine whether black jurors have been systematically excluded from the jury venire (R333) Motion for Mistrial based upon statements by the state to the jury venire; (R359) Motion for Mistrial based upon the jury taint from questioning jurors about pre-trial publicity in front of the

remaining jury venire; (R1310) and Motion for Additional Peremptory Challenges. (R1397)

The following defense motions were denied after the jury was seated: Motion for Mistrial based upon comments by the State during opening statement; renewed; (R1657, 1773) Motion for Mistrial based upon trial courts order that defense not ask leading questions on cross-examination; (R2269) Motion for Mistrial based upon the inflammatory nature of the victim impact evidence; (R2918) Motion for Recess to permit trial court to consider evidence presented at sentencing. (R104)

The following objections and cause challenges were made by the defense before the jury was seated: Court denied cause challenges against Juror Aker, Juror Hemple and Juror Smith; (R320) Court denied cause challenge against Juror Stanton; (R582) Court denied cause challenges against Juror Harrell and Juror Cioffi; (R1115) Court denied cause challenge against Juror Warrensford; (R1303) If additional peremptories were given the defense would have struck Juror Williams, Juror Wittfeldt and Juror Gordon; (R1397, 1415) Defense renews all objections to the jury panel. (R1527)

The following objections were made by the defense after the jury was seated: Objection to photo of gas can; (R1718) Objection to photos of victim be excluded as gruesome, and not relevant to aggravating factors; (R1864) Objection to testimony

of the fire damage to the body of the victim; (R1893) Standing objection to the testimony of the medical examiner; (R1984) Objection to photo of crime scene, photo of victim's wrist, photo of victim's ankle being bound; (R1897, 1898 and 1899) Objection to photos of the victim. (R1914, 1920) Objection to video of crime scene; (R2131) Objection to trial court orders to defense to refrain from asking leading questions on cross-examination; (R2243, 2253) Objection to introduction of victim's dress and watch based upon relevancy; (R2358) Objection to photo of fan as cumulative; (R2384) Objection to photo of burnt matches in victim's house; (R2462) Objection to jury instructions on the following aggravating circumstances: avoiding or preventing lawful arrest (R2931); financial gain (R2933); HAC (R2933); and CCP. (R2945)

#### FACTS CONCERNING THE MURDER

In early September, 1990, Pastor Russell Sasscer met with the victim, Marlys Sather, at a homeowners' association meeting. (R1675) At the meeting, Pastor Sasscer informed Sather that a member of his congregation was interested in buying a used car. (R1676) They then arranged to meet at Sather's house the next day at noon. (R1676) The following morning, on September 5, 1990, Sather appeared at work at 7:00 a.m. (R1666) Sather left work between 11:00 and 11:30 a.m. to make her appointment with Pastor Sasscer. (R1667) On the way home, Sather stopped at a

Winn-Dixie and bought some groceries. (R1816)

Pastor Sasscer called Sather's home at 12:00 noon to inform her that he would be a few minutes late for their appointment, and there was no answer at the house. (R1677) Pastor Sasscer arrived at Sather's home minutes later and observed Sather's car in the driveway. (R1678) Sasscer rang the bell to the house and there was no answer. (R1678) Sather did not return to work that afternoon. (R1667)

The following day, Sather did not appear at work at her usual time, 7:00 a.m. (R1671) Employees were sent to Sather's home to check on her at 8:00 a.m., and they found nothing. (R1671) The two employees that went to the house rang the bell and there was no answer at the door. (R1692) One of the employees observed that Sather's garage door was ajar and unlocked and she looked under the garage door and saw a car in the garage she didn't recognize. (R1700) One of the employees then called Sather's relatives that live nearby to inform them that they did not know about Sather's whereabouts. (R1694)

After receiving a call that her mother-in-law's whereabouts were unknown, Denning Loveridge and his father went to the Sather home. (R1704) Loveridge gained entry to the Sather home through the back porch. (R1707) In the back porch he observed items out of place; the TV set, the VCR, a VCR tape rewinder, and a shotgun. (R1709) Upon entering the kitchen,

Loveridge observed things in disorder and the smell of gasoline. (R1711) Loveridge then found Sather lying on the floor of the front bedroom. (R1713) On the floor by Sather's feet was a fan that was still on. (R1713) Loveridge and his father then went outside and called the police. (R1715)

Officer John Masse of the Palm Bay Police was the first officer to respond to the Sather home. (R1726) Upon entering the home, Officer Masse smelled gasoline. (R1728) After observing the victim, Officer Masse notified his superiors of a possible homicide and asked for detectives to respond. (R1731) Officer Masse then secured the area. (R1732) While securing the area, Officer Masse noticed that the bathroom window of the house next door was broken. (R1734) Fearing that there was a burglary in this house, Masse entered through the window and nobody was home. (R1734) The house next door was also secured as a potential crime scene. (R1734)

Dr. Dennis J. Wickham, District Medical Examiner, performed an investigation into the death of Marlys Sather. (R1891) At the crime scene, Dr. Wickham observed that the victim had charring of the skin. (R1895) The doctor also observed that the victim's hands were bound behind the body with a black plastic cord and over that was duct tape. (R1895) The victim's legs were bound the same way. (R1896) The doctor also observed blood from the victim's head all the way to the doorway as well

as on the inside wall and back towards the door. (R1930) The victim also had "skin slip" which was due to gasoline and the combination of gasoline and heat on the skin. (R1933) There was also a ligature found around the neck of the victim which was made of a two wire electric cord and duct tape. (R1934)

A further examination of the victim's body by the doctor found that the victim had a number of bruises and lacerations. (R1935) The victim had bruises on the left side of the forehead, left upper eyelid, inside lower lip, and tip of the tongue. (R1936) The doctor also observed a laceration on the scalp behind the right ear and a chip of bone was chipped out of the skull. (R1936) There were also small bruises on the back of the left hand, the right forearm, and the left leg towards the knee. (R1936) The doctor testified that the injuries to the head were caused by something that is long and probably had some sort of angle on it. (R1943) The injuries to the lip and tongue occurred during a blow to the mouth or strangulation. (R1946)

Dr. Wickham made the following findings related to the victim's cause of death: lining of skull and brain had a thin layer of blood over the right back portion; the left temporal lobe of the brain had bruises and the back of the head had small bruises; neck tissues had blood (R1946); two cartilages in the neck were broken; trachea mucus had soot; black soot was found down into the lungs and into the medium sized bronchi. (R1947)

The doctor further testified that the strangulation to the victim was intermittent because of the amount of blood seepage in the eyes. (R1949) In the doctor's opinion, the victim was alive and breathing when the fire started because the victim inhaled soot. (R1951) In the doctor's opinion the victim's cause of death was a result of smoke inhalation following strangulation and blunt force injury to the head. (R1955)

Under cross-examination, the doctor admitted that the blows to the head could have been sufficient to cause unconsciousness. (R1958) Futhermore, once the victim was bound the victim showed no sign of struggle. (R1958) The strangulation caused by the ligature alone could have caused the death of the victim. (R1961) However, the doctor testified in 1991 that the ligature strangulation "would" cause death of the victim. (R1963) Also, the fire was not started over the face and mouth area of the victim (R1964); and, the blows to the skull were made from a left-handed blow. (R1965) Also, the victim was "agonal," meaning the victim was dying at the time the fire was started. (R1967)

### The Murder Investigation

The Defendant's neighbors, Michael and Kathleen Delaney, saw a car towed away from the Defendant's house two weeks before the murder. (R2026,2043) The car being towed was a car rented by the Willacy which was being repossessed by the rental company.

Officer George Santiago was the lead investigator from the Palm Bay Police Department. (R2102) According to Santiago, the Willacy's house was next door to the house of the victim on Jarvis Street in Palm Bay. (R2075,2076) During an investigation of the victim's house, Santiago observed a green shirt on a chair in the living room that compared to clothes that were found in the Defendant's clothing hamper. (R2105) Also, there was food products and a Winn-Dixie receipt on the table. (R2117) A handle to a squeegee was found in the bathroom waste basket. (R2138)

While Officer Santiago was at the crime scene, Willacy appeared at his house next door. (R2140) Willacy's house was taped off by police officers that found the bathroom window was broken. (R2140) Santiago interviewed Willacy, and he told Santiago that the bathroom window was broken for about a week. (R2142) Santiago then entered the house with Willacy and they walked through the house. (R2143) Willacy stated to Santiago that there was nothing unusual in the house. (R2144) Willacy told Santiago that he occasionally cut the victim's lawn next door and used her lawn cutting equipment. (R2144) Willacy also stated that he had not seen the victim in a couple days and also refused Santiago's request to provide fingerprint samples. (R2144) However, Willacy agreed to come down to the station at 5:00 p.m. and give Santiago a statement. (R2146)

Willacy missed his 5:00 appointment with Santiago.

(R2148) Santiago subsequently returned to the crime scene at 6:40 p.m. where he observed Willacy in the front lawn of his house with his girlfriend and his girlfriend's father. (R2148) Santiago then took a recorded statement from Willacy. (R2153) In the recorded statement, Willacy stated that he last saw the victim on the Sunday before the murder. (R2158) The victim had asked Willacy to cut her lawn, which he did, and the victim paid him for it. (R2158) Willacy went to Orlando the next day and returned home around midnight. (R2159) The following day Willacy woke up late, around 11:00 a.m., had breakfast, and did some outside work around the house. (R2173) He did not go to work that day because he had a job interview. (R2174) Officer Santiago asked if Willacy had been jogging in the neighborhood the day before, and Willacy could not recall. (R2180) Willacy did say, however, that he had been removing rubbish from the back yard. (R2181) Willacy also had been in the victim's garage and in the front doorway related to cutting her lawn. (R2163)

Later that evening, at about 9:40 p.m., Santiago received a phone call from Willacy's girlfriend. (R2152) Santiago went to Willacy's house and met with him. (R2184) Officer Santiago advised Willacy that he did not have to invite him into the house or give him anything. (R2184) Willacy then let Santiago into the house and led him to the guest bedroom where a checkbook was in the waste basket. (R2185-86) Willacy had no

knowledge of how the item got into the house. (R2188-89)

Officer Santiago left Willacy under the supervision of other police officers and went to confer with other crime scene technicians. (R2190) After those discussions, Santiago placed Willacy under arrest. (R2190) A search warrant of Willacy's house was sought and subsequently a search was conducted. (R2191)

Under cross-examination, Officer Santiago testified that a confidential informant stated that another person was at the murder scene and had checks of the victim. (R2254-56) The C.I. stated that Larry or Alonzo Love was present and involved in the murder. (R2257-59) According to Santiago, Alonzo Love was interviewed and he stated he was at work at the time of the murder. (R2261) Love's employer was contacted and the employer stated Love was at work the day of the murder. (R2262) Alonzo Love's fingerprints were taken and compared to prints found at the crime scene. (R2265)

The search of Willacy's house uncovered a blood stained pair of shorts in the hamper. (R2215) Also found was a tie clip, a miniature Colt M16, a miniature M16, an Indian head coin collection, foreign currency, wrapped coins, a ladies ring, and a telephone. (R2221-22) A gym bag was found under Willacy's bed containing coins. (R2225-26)

#### Observations of Neighbors and Co-Workers.

Edith Creel was a neighbor of both Willacy and Sather.

(R1745) Creel saw Willacy to the left of her house coming out of a wooded area and enter a two-tone red and white car at 12:45 p.m. on September 5th. (R1747) Minutes later a co-worker of the victim, Louise Rodriguez, saw the victim's car go into a bank on Menton Road. (R1971-75) Marta Anderson, left her house after 3:00 p.m. on September 5th to pick up her children at the nearby bus stop. (R1977-79) While nearing the bus stop, Anderson observed a fairly well dressed black male in a jogging suit with a hat sort of jogging on Jarvis looking for something. (R1983-85) The person was muscular, 5'10" to 6'1" tall. (R1985) Anderson then observed the black male passing her car in a two-tone car. (R1987) At the same time, John Barton, was a student returning home from school. (R1994-95) After getting off at the wrong bus stop, Barton observed a maroon and white Ford LTD pulling out of a ditch on the side of a building at the corner of Jupiter and Almonte. (R1994-95) He identified the maroon and white Ford LTD as being the car belonging to the victim. (R1995) The victim's car was subsequently found at that same location, also known as Lynnbrook Plaza. (R2018-22,2147)

#### Fingerprint Evidence

Palm Bay Police Officer Jody Phillips and Brevard County Deputy Sheriff Russell Cockriel processed the crime scene for fingerprints. (R2365,2673) The victim's house and cars were thoroughly processed for latent prints. (R2427,2428) Officer

Phillips found Willacy's fingerprints on the bottom of the fan motor in the victim's front bedroom where the victim was found, and on the gas can found in the kitchen. (R2433,2434) Deputy Cockriel found Willacy's fingerprint on the VCR rewinder in the back porch, and on the top of the fan motor of the oscillating fan found in the victim's northeast bedroom. (R2675) There were 13 fingerprints found at the crime scene that could not be matched to any known print, including a fingerprint found on the VCR in the back porch area, a fingerprint from the telephone in the master bedroom, and a fingerprint on the blue Ford in the garage. (R2443,2444,2450,2709)

Tammy Jergovich, a micro-analyst, testified that a wood handle and squeegee piece were once together. (R2501) She further testified that the roll of black cord used to tie the wrists of the victim did not originate from the screen/blinds found in the victim's house. (R2506-7) According to Scott Ryland, a FDLE crime analyst, duct tape on the victim's ankles was similar in construction and characteristics to a roll of tape recovered at Willacy's house. (R2527)

According to FDLE serologist Yvette McNab, the victim had Type A blood and Willacy had Type O blood. (R2545) Paper towels found in Willacy's house contained Type A blood. (R2545) Type A blood was also found on a hammer handle found in the yard and on Willacy's sneakers. (R2550-51) A pair of shorts also

recovered from Willacy's house was covered by blood, both Type A and Type O. (R2551-52)

Debbie Demers of the Brevard County Sheriff's Office was declared an expert in blood stain pattern analysis. (R2288) Agent Demers photographed the crime scene and spread the blood detecting chemical luminal throughout the crime scene. (R2290) According to Demers' blood stain pattern analysis, the victim was initially struck by a left-handed swing motion in front of the dining room table. (R2321) The victim then was dragged across the floor to the foyer, where the victim then stood up and went into the garage. (R2324) The victim's head then made forceful contact with the foyer floor. (R2326) There was then a drag or swipe pattern of blood on the carpet in between the chair and end table. (R2326) Blood then pooled in the living room area. (R2326,2330) The victim's head was then wrapped in a comforter and the victim was carried into the northeast bedroom. (R2326-27,2331) Agent Demers also found blood stains and burnt hair about twelve inches up on the door frame in the northeast bedroom. (R2332) According to arson investigator Randy Gore, a fire was deliberately started in the victim's house by pouring gasoline and lighting it with matches. (R2465)

#### Bank ATM Evidence

The victim's ATM card was used at 12:52 p.m. on September 5th. (R2589) There were two further ATM withdrawals

from the victim's account at the First Florida Bank in West Melbourne on September 5th, 1990. (R2597-2619) The ATM machine at the bank took a photograph of the person making the ATM withdrawal, and that photo was introduced into evidence. (R2641)

The victim's daughter, Diana Loveridge, identified her mother's property that was recovered from Willacy's house. (R2536) The victim's wedding ring was the only item that was missing and not recovered from Willacy's house. (R2537) Loveridge also testified that her mother did not ordinarily keep a fan in the front northeast bedroom.

#### Evidence of Mitigation

Eric Jiles has known Willacy for twenty years and has been best friends since childhood. (R2752) According to Jiles, Willacy was a thoughtful person. (R2753) Jiles provided a specific example where Willacy once helped a drunk person passed out in a restaurant parking lot. (R2753) According to Jiles, on that particular day it was below freezing temperatures and if the drunk person stayed in the parking lot he would have froze to death; however, Willacy helped the person up sat him down in the restaurant. (R2753) During Willacy's senior year of high school, he developed a drug abuse problem with cocaine and sought help from Jiles. (R2755-60) Thereafter Willacy volunteered for admission into a drug detox center. (R2760) Willacy subsequently relapsed. (R2756) Willacy decided to come to Florida to get away

from the bad elements in New York. (R2757)

Andrew Jiles is the father of Eric Jiles, and testified that Willacy was a polite, helpful, and hardworking person. (R2767) Willacy came to Jiles for help with his cocaine abuse (R2766), and Willacy was embarrassed that he got into that situation. (R2767) Jiles then arranged for Willacy to be hospitalized for seven days in a detox center. (R2767) Willacy ultimately returned to drugs and would avoid Jiles because of his embarrassment over the situation. (R2767)

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