IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHADWICK WILLACY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

FILED

SID J. WHITE NOV 12 1996 (

CLERK, SURREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

By _

CASE NO. 86,994

į

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

5. THE MURDER WAS COMMITTED IN A COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED MANNER WITHOUT ANY PRETENSE OF MORAL OR LEGAL JUSTIFICATION.

The victim returned home unexpectedly from work to find the defendant engaged in the burglary of her home and the theft of some of its contents. There is no evidence of any initial intent of his part to kill her. His surprise at being caught, and the fear of its consequences, spawned in his mind an urgent need to eliminate her as a witness. Killing her was the obvious solution to his problem and the intention to do so was thus born. The means for its accomplishment were set into motion.

There is no evidence of the exact amount of time spanned by the conception, planning and execution of this murder. However, the various and numerous activities devoted to its accomplishment show a level of heightened premeditation, and that the resulting murder was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner, without any pretense of justification. moral or legal This aggravating circumstance has been proven beyond reasonable doubt.

(R 618). The facts support these findings and demonstrate the requisite heightened premeditation needed to establish CCP.

As the court noted, the victim's arrival probably surprised Willacy during his burglary of her home, and he chased her around the house and beat her into submission. Not satisfied with that, however, he cut the cord from an iron and bound her wrists behind

<u>Preston v. State</u>, 607 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 113 S. Ct. 1619, 123 L. Ed. 2d 178 (1993).

her. He used a separate type of cord to bind her legs and then wrapped duct tape over those bindings. Still not satisfied because the victim was alive, he used more of the electrical cord from the iron and more duct tape and strangled her. Thereafter, Willacy dragged the victim to a bedroom she used as a home office, got a can of gasoline from the garage and a fan from another bedroom, disabled the three smoke detectors in the home, doused the victim with gasoline, used two matches to set her on fire, and turned the fan on to fan the flames.

Willacy argues that the physical attack on the victim evidenced no planning or preparation. (Initial brief at 59). The initial attack perhaps supports that claim, but the subsequent events do not. Willacy could have fled after subduing the victim. Instead of doing so, however, he strangled the victim and then set The deliberate nature of Willacy's actions her on fire. demonstrate the requisite level of coldness, planning, and calculation and "establish that the murder was not prompted by emotional panic or a fit of rage." <u>Fennie</u>, 648 So. 2d at 99; Lockhart v. State, 655 So. 2d 69 (Fla. 1995); Walls; Arbelaez v. State, 626 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 2123, 128 L. Ed. 2d 678 (1994). The lengthy nature of these events demonstrates the requisite premeditation. Fennie; Walls.

Willacy had plenty of time to reflect on his actions during this extended sequence of events and obviously decided to do everything he could to kill the victim and conceal the evidence of his crimes. The time it took to kill the victim coupled with the calculated searching out items with which to bind the victim and to set her on fire and the deliberate ruthlessness of Willacy's actions demonstrate that this murder meets the standards for establishing CCP. <u>Fennie</u>; <u>Walls</u>; <u>Atwater v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993), <u>cert. denied</u>, 114 S. Ct. 1578, 128 L. Ed. 2d 221 (1994); <u>Henry v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert. denied</u>, 114 S. Ct. 699, 126 L. Ed. 2d 665 (1994).

The facts support the trial court's finding that the state established the CCP aggravator. Where there is a legal basis for finding an aggravator this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 500 U.S. 938, 111 S. Ct. 2067, 114 L. Ed. 2d 471 (1991). Therefore, the finding of CCP should be affirmed.

Even if this Court decides that the trial court erred in finding that the CCP aggravator had been established, no relief is warranted. As stated by this Court previously: "If there is no likelihood of a different sentence, the trial court's reliance on

an invalid aggravator must be deemed harmless." Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526, 535 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020, 108 S. Ct. 733, 98 L. Ed. 2d 681 (1988). Striking CCP would leave four aggravators (felony murder/arson, avoid or prevent arrest, pecuniary gain, and HAC) to be weighed against inconsequential nonstatutory mitigation. Given the presence of four strong aggravators and the lack of significant mitigators, there is no reasonable likelihood that Willacy would have received a sentence of life imprisonment if the CCP aggravator had not been considered. Geralds v. State, 674 So. 2d 96, 104-05 (Fla. 1996) (no Cf. reasonable likelihood of different sentence where striking an aggravator left two aggravators to be weighed against a statutory mitigator and three nonstatutory mitigators); Barwick v. State, 660 So. 2d 685, 697 (Fla. 1995) (no likelihood of different sentence when eliminating CCP left five aggravators to be weighed against "minimal mitigating evidence"); Fennie, 648 So. 2d at 99 (eliminating CCP would be harmless because "[t]he totality of the aggravating factors and the lack of significant mitigating death is conclusively demonstrate that the circumstances appropriate penalty in this case"); Pietri v. State, 644 So. 2d 1347, 1354 (Fla. 1994) (striking CCP left three aggravators and, even if the trial court had found mitigators, there was no

reasonable likelihood of a different sentence), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 2588, 132 L. Ed. 2d 836 (1995); Green v. State, 641 So. 2d 391, 395 (Fla. 1994) (striking HAC was harmless where three aggravators remained to be weighed against weak mitigation), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1120, 130 L. Ed. 2d 1083 (1995); Wyatt v. State, 641 So. 2d 355, 360 (Fla. 1994) (striking two aggravators was harmless where the three remaining aggravators "far outweigh the minimal mitigating evidence"), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1372, 131 L. Ed. 2d 227 (1995); Peterka v. State, 640 So. 2d 59, 71-72 (Fla. 1994) (striking two aggravators was harmless where three aggravators remained to be weighed against lack of a significant criminal history), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 940, 130 L. Ed. 2d 884 (1995).

ISSUE VII

WHETHER WILLACY'S DEATH SENTENCE IS PROPORTIONATE.

Willacy argues that his death sentence is disproportionate because only one aggravator was properly established, i.e., felony murder/burglary. (Initial brief at 61). As demonstrated in issues III through VI, supra, this claim is incorrect. Instead, the state proved that five aggravators exist. Willacy's reliance on singleaggravator cases, therefore, is misplaced because those cases do

not provide a valid basis for comparison. E.g., DeAngelo v. State, 616 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 1993); Proffitt v. State, 510 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1987); Ross v. State, 474 So. 2d 1170 (Fla. 1985); Rembert v. State, 445 So. 2d 337 (Fla. 1984); Blair v. State, 406 So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 1981); Phippen v. State, 389 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1980); Menendez factually v. State, 368 So. 2d 1278 (Fla. 1979). Also distinguishable and not comparable to Willacy's case are the cases where no aggravators had been established (Amoros v. State, 531 So. 2d 1256 (Fla. 1988); Garron v. State, 528 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 1988); Kampff v. State, 371 So. 2d 1007 (Fla. 1979)), the jury overrides (Irizarry v. State, 496 So. 2d 822 (Fla. 1986); <u>Herzog v. State</u>, 439 So. 2d 1372 (Fla. 1981); Chambers v. State, 339 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 1976)), and the cases where heated or longstanding domestic disputes precipitated the homicides (Blakely v. State, 561 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 1990); Fead v. State, 512 So. 2d 176 (Fla. 1987); Wilson v. State, 493 So. 2d 1019 (Fla. 1986)). Although Fitzpatrick v. State, 527 So. 2d 809 (Fla. 1988), is a multiple-aggravator case, it is distinguishable from the instant case due to the significance of the mitigators (both mental mitigators plus age) and the conspicuous absence of both HAC and CCP. Id. at 872.

Cases other than those cited by Willacy are more comparable to this case. <u>Henry v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 429 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert</u>.

denied, 114 S. Ct. 699, 126 L. Ed. 2d 665 (1994), is remarkably similar to the instant case. Henry, to enable him to rob the store where he worked, subdued two co-workers by tying one up and by hitting the other in the head. He then set them on fire. This Court approved the trial court's finding the same five aggravators that the state proved in this case and affirmed Henry's death sentences. <u>Id</u>. at 433-34. That Willacy killed only one person while Henry killed two is a minor distinction given the similarity of the facts, the presence of five aggravators, and the lack of substantial mitigation.

Moreover, there are many cases with less in aggravation and more in mitigation where this Court has found the death penalty appropriate. <u>Cf. Kilgore v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S345 (Fla. August 29, 1996) (two aggravators; two statutory and several nonstatutory mitigators); <u>Pope v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S257 (Fla. June 13, 1996) (same); <u>Orme v. State</u>, 677 So. 2d 258 (Fla. 1996) (two aggravators; both statutory mental mitigators); <u>Geralds</u> <u>v. State</u>, 674 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 1996) (two aggravators; one statutory and several nonstatutory mitigators); <u>Finney v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 674 (Fla. 1995) (three aggravators; five nonstatutory mitigators); <u>Gamble v. State</u>, 659 So. 2d 242 (Fla. 1995) (two aggravators; one statutory and several nonstatutory mitigators); <u>Pogle v. State</u>, 655

So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 1995) (four aggravators; one statutory and several nonstatutory mitigators); Whitton v. State, 649 So. 2d 861 (Fla. 1994) (five aggravators; nine nonstatutory mitigators); Fennie v. State, 648 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1994) (three aggravators; both statutory and nonstatutory mitigators), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 1120, 130 L. Ed. 2d 1083 (1995); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 1994) (two aggravators; nonstatutory mitigators).

This case has five strong aggravators and inconsequential mitigators. The cases that Willacy relies on are distinguishable. This horribly gruesome murder was well beyond the "norm" of capital felonies. Willacy's death sentence is truly proportionate to the magnitude of the crime. Willacy has shown no impropriety in the imposition of his death sentence, and that sentence should be affirmed.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED THE STATE TO PRESENT VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE.

Willacy claims that the trial court erred in allowing the state to present victim impact evidence through the testimony of the victim's three children. There is no merit to this issue.

After the defense rested (T 2840), the prosecutor announced his intention to call the victim's children as rebuttal witnesses

"present what's commonly referred to as victim impact to testimony." (T 2877). Defense counsel stated that, although he disagreed with the idea of victim impact evidence, the Florida Supreme Court had approved its use. (T 2877). He objected, however, to the state's presenting such evidence in rebuttal because it would not rebut the character evidence that Willacy had presented. (T 2877-78). He argued that he could find no case allowing the introduction of victim impact evidence as rebuttal evidence. (T 2879). The prosecutor quoted from Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 111 S. Ct. 2597, 115 L. Ed. 2d 720 (1991), regarding a state's right to counteract mitigating evidence (T 2882) and argued that, although he could have introduced the evidence during his case in chief, "I submit that I am attempting to abide by what I believe to be the true meaning of Payne; and that is, I should only introduce this when it's necessary to rebut hours of testimony about this defendant." (T 2883). The court overruled the defense objections (T 2884), stating that "the state will be permitted to call its rebuttal witnesses in accordance with the thrust of" Pavne. (T 2885). Defense counsel asked for an order telling the state not "to get into any evidence about the crime, the defendant and the appropriate sentence because the statute specifically limits them from doing that." (T 2886). The

court then told the prosecutor to "emphasize" to the witnesses that they could not "editorialize upon their comments or go beyond the scope of the questions that you put to them." (T 2886).

Thereafter, the victim's son and two daughters testified about their families, their relationship with their mother, and the impact their mother's death had on them and their families. (T 2888-93; 2894-2901; 2903-09). Willacy now argues that this testimony did "not speak about the unique characteristics of the victim and instead inflame[d] the passions of the jury" and that the court erred in allowing the state to present this evidence in rebuttal. (Initial brief at 68). There is no merit to these claims.

Subsection 921.141(7), Florida Statutes (1993), provides as follows:

(7) Victim impact evidence.--Once the the prosecution has provided evidence of more existence of one or aggravating circumstances as described in subsection (5), the prosecution may introduce, and subsequently argue, victim impact evidence. Such evidence shall be designed to demonstrate the victim's uniqueness as an individual human the resultant loss the being and to community's members by the victim's death. Characterizations and opinions about the crime, the defendant, and the appropriate sentence shall not be permitted as a part of victim impact evidence.

This Court upheld the constitutionality of this statute in <u>Windom</u> <u>v. State</u>, 656 So. 2d 432 (Fla. 1995). In doing so it commented that "this Court has held victim impact testimony to be admissible as long as it comes within the parameters of the <u>Payne</u> decision." Id. at 438. Since <u>Windom</u>, this Court has acknowledged and upheld the state's right to present victim impact evidence numerous times. <u>Bonifay v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S301 (Fla. July 11, 1996); Farina v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S173 (Fla. April 18, 1996); <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 673 So. 2d 859 (Fla. 1996); <u>Allen v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 323 (Fla. 1995).

In Bonifay this Court stated:

Clearly, the boundaries of relevance under the statute include evidence concerning the impact to family members. Family members are unique to each other by reason of the relationship and the role each has in the family. A loss to the family is a loss to both the community of the family and to the larger community outside the family.

21 Fla. L. Weekly at S303. As required by the statute, the testimony of the victim's children demonstrated her "uniqueness as an individual human being" and did not constitute "[c]haracterizations and opinions about the crime, the defendant, and the appropriate sentence." § 921.141(7). Because the testimony

met the requirements of <u>Payne</u> and the statute, it was both relevant and admissible.

Furthermore, there is no merit to Willacy's claim that the state should not have been allowed to present the victim impact evidence in rebuttal. As this Court recognized, subsection 921.141(7) "indicates clearly that victim impact evidence is admitted only after there is present in the record evidence of one or more aggravating circumstances." Windom, 656 So. 2d at 438. By presenting the victim impact evidence in rebuttal the state insured that it followed the dictates of the statute that such evidence be introduced only after one or more aggravators were established. While the state could have presented these witnesses' testimony at the end of its case in chief, there is no prohibition against the procedure employed in this case. If this Court were to decide that victim impact evidence should not be used as rebuttal evidence, any such judicial rule should be prospective only and any error perceived in this case should be declared harmless.

Willacy's claim that <u>Burns v. State</u>, 609 So. 2d 600 (Fla. 1992), is dispositive of this case (initial brief at 67 n.3) is incorrect because <u>Burns</u> is factually distinguishable. In <u>Burns</u> the state presented victim impact evidence in the guilt phase rather than the penalty phase. This Court found admission of the evidence

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